1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 Electronically Filed 4 Apr 24 2019 04:31 p.m. Dwight Conrad Solander, Elizabeth A. Brown 5 Appellant Clerk of Supreme Court 6 Supreme Court Case No.: 76405 VS. 7 8 State of Nevada. 9 Respondent. 10 11 12 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 13 MUELLER, HINDS & ASSOCIATES, CHTD. 14 Craig Mueller, Esq. 15 Nevada Bar No. 4703 16 cmueller@muellerhinds.com 723 South 7th Street 17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 18 (702) 382-1200 Attorney for Dwight Solander 19 20 Clark County District Attorney's Office 21 200 Lewis Ave., 3rd Floor 22 Las Vegas, NV 89155 Attorneys for Respondent 23 24 25 26 27

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether inserting a catheter into a third party constitutes sexual assault under NRS 200.366 and NRS 200.364.
- 2. Whether Appellant's conviction should be vacated because he was induced into entering a plea of guilty to three (3) felony counts in order to avoid the

excessive penalty, i.e. a life sentence, which could be imposed for inserting a catheter into a third party in a medically approved manner.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

A. Statement Facts

The instant issue on appeal is whether use of a catheter as medically intended constitutes sexual assault under Nevada Revised Statute 200.366 and NRS 200. 364. Appellant Dwight Solander was charged with 36 felony counts by way of information before the Honorable Judge Valerie Adair in Clark County District Court, Department 21. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 81-82). Ten of those counts are Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 81-82).

On September 16, 2014, Appellant filed a pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Appellant's Appendix pp.69-70; 83) challenging, among other things, the inclusion of these ten counts. The counts revolve around allegations that his wife, Janet Solander used urinary catheters as medically intended by the manufacturer. The Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Appellant's Appendix pp. 70; 74) claimed that, even if true as alleged, the conduct did not constitute the crime of sexual assault. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 70; 74). Such a distortion of the Nevada Statute would result in absurd results that blatantly contravenes the intent of the legislature in

passing the statute and subsequent amendment, which explicitly excludes use of medical devices (such as catheters) from the definition of sexual assault.

NRS 200.366 provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Sexual assault: Definition; penalties.

- 1. A person who subjects another person to sexual penetration, or who forces another person to make a sexual penetration on himself or herself or another, or on a beast, against the will of the victim or under conditions in which the perpetrator knows or should know that the victim is mentally or physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of his or her conduct, is guilty of sexual assault.
- 2. Except as otherwise provided in subsections 3 and 4, a person who commits a sexual assault is guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished:
- (a) If substantial bodily harm to the victim results from the actions of the defendant committed in connection with or as a part of the sexual assault, by imprisonment in the state prison:
- (1) For life without the possibility of parole; or
- (2) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 15 years has been served.

. . . .

- 3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, a person who commits a sexual assault against a child under the age of 16 years is guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished:
- (a) If the crime results in substantial bodily harm to the child, by imprisonment in the state prison for life without the possibility of parole.
- (b) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (c), if the crime does not result in substantial bodily harm to the child, by imprisonment in the state prison for

life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 25 years has been served.

(c) If the crime is committed against a child under the age of 14 years and does not result in substantial bodily harm to the child, by imprisonment in the state prison for life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 35 years has been served. . . .

NRS 200.364 provides in pertinent part as follows:

- 4. "Sexual offense" means any of the following offenses:
- (a) Sexual assault pursuant to NRS 200.366.
- (b) Statutory sexual seduction pursuant to NRS 200.368.
- 5. "Sexual penetration" means cunnilingus, fellatio, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or any object manipulated or inserted by a person into the genital or anal openings of the body of another, including sexual intercourse in its ordinary meaning. **The term does not include any such conduct for medical purposes...** (Emphasis added).

In 2015 NRS 200. 364 was amended to include the provision that "[t]he term [sexual penetration] does not include. . . conduct [involving penetration] for medical purposes."

After oral arguments, Judge Adair requested the State provide a bench memorandum with legal support for how medically correct use of a catheter may constitute sexual assault, which the State filed on October 15, 2014. (Appellant's Appendix page 84). After duly considering the State's position, on January 28, 2015, Judge Adair granted Appellant Solander's Petition in part, holding that

medical use of a catheter does not constitute sexual assault under Nevada law. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 70; 84)

The State filed a Notice of Appeal on March 30, 2015. (Appellant's Appendix p. 85).

On Appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed the ruling of Judge Adair. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 69-77).

Thereafter, Appellant entered a plea of guilty to Count 1, (child abuse, neglect or endangerment resulting in substantial bodily harm); Count 2, (child abuse, neglect or endangerment resulting in substantial bodily harm); and Count 3 (child abuse, neglect or endangerment resulting in substantial bodily harm). He was sentenced to 36 to 120 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections (Appellant's Appendix, pp. 63-64; 91-92).

His wife, Janet Solander, chose to go to trial rather than to enter into plea negotiations. The jury found her guilty of 46 felonies, including sexual assault, and was sentenced to 35 years to life in the Nevada Department of Correction. (Appellant's Appendix pp. 52-60)

The reason Appellant chose to enter guilty pleas to three (3) Counts of child abuse, neglect or endangerment resulting in substantial bodily harm, was because of the possible life sentence which he might have faced if he had chosen to go to trial,

catheters.

This Appeal Followed.

ARGUMENT

and was found guilty of sexual assault as a result of the medically correct use of

A. STATUTES MUST BE INTERPRETED TO AVOID AN ABSURD RESULT

Even when the language of a statute *appears* facially clear, an overriding canon of statutory interpretation is that the language cannot be constructed to reach an absurd result. This necessary component of language construction is replete throughout Nevada law, and in fact has been often regarded as a superior canon of construction over blindly obeying a statute's "plain language" without thought to logic and intent.

The leading rule for the construction of statutes is to ascertain the intention of the legislature in enacting the statute, and the intent, when ascertained will prevail over the literal sense. The meaning of words used in a statute may be sought by examining the context and by considering the reason or spirit of the law or the causes which induced the legislature to enact it. The entire subject matter and the policy of the law may also be involved to aid in its interpretation, and it should always be construed so as to avoid absurd results. *Moody v. Manny's Auto Repair*, 110 Nev. 320, 325, 871 P.2d 935, 938 (1994) (quoting *Welfare Div. v. Washoe Co. Welfare Dep't*, 88 Nev. 635, 503 P.2d 457 (1972)).

A statute's language must give way when interpreting it literally leads to absurd results, as it does in the instant matter. "A statute should always be construed to avoid absurd results." *Gen. Motors v. Jackson*, 111 Nev. 1026, 1029, 900 P.2d 345, 348 (1995). "This is an absurd result, and the Nevada Supreme Court does not interpret statutes in this manner." *Albios v. Horizon Cmtys., Inc.*, 122 Nev. 409, 414, 132 P.3d 1022, 1025 (2006). "[W]e construe unambiguous statutory language according to its plain meaning *unless doing so would provide an absurd result.*" *Cal. Commercial Enters. v. Amedeo Vegas I, Inc.*, 119 Nev. 143, 145, 67 P.3d 328, 330 (2003); *Simmons Self-Storage Partners, LLC v. Rib Roof, Inc.*, 331 P.3d 850, 854 (Nev. 2014). The Court interprets statutes "to avoid unreasonable or absurd results and give effect to the Legislature's intent." *S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cnty.*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005).

Judge Adair rightfully decided that medically intended use of catheters does not constitute sexual assault within the meaning of NRS 230.366. Any other conclusion would defy logic and produce an astoundingly absurd result. For example, a medical rape kit performed on a minor would itself constitute sexual assault; a routine gynecological medical procedure performed while the patient was under sedation would constitute sexual assault; the use of catheters on an patient or one who is in a comatose state would constitute sexual assault; any invasive ultrasound to determine the heath of an unborn child, some recommended cancer

2
 3
 4

screenings, and many preventative medical exams performed without the patient's full ability to consent (whether it be on a minor or a person under anesthesia) would constitute sexual assault; the list goes on and on.

What sets these situations and the scenario at hand apart from the object sexual assault envisioned by the legislature is the distinct lack of sexual intent. When using a medical device for a non-sexual purpose, the only logical result is that such action cannot be statutory sexual assault. Were this not the case, virtually every doctor, nurse, caretaker, and parent would be committing sexual assault on their patients, wards and children. This patently absurd result simply cannot have been what was anticipated or envisioned by the legislature when drafting NRS 200.366.

B. EVEN UNDER THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE, A SEXUAL INTENT IS REQUIRED

NRS 200.366(1) provides in pertinent part as follows:

A person who subjects another person to **sexual** penetration, or who forces another person to make a **sexual** penetration on himself or herself or another, or on a beast, against the will of the victim or under conditions in which the perpetrator knows or should know that the victim is mentally or physically incapable of resisting or understanding the nature of his or her conduct, is guilty of sexual assault. Nevada Revised Statute 200.366(1) (emphasis added).

The explicit word "sexual" must be considered. As a direct descriptive adjective, elementary rules of grammar require that it be read to describe the term immediately subsequent; "sexual" thus describes "penetration," which can only be logically inferred to mean that any act of penetration must have a *sexual intent* to fall under the purview of the statute.

Nevada case law amply demonstrates the significance of statutory adjectives regarding general means of interpretation. "In pertinent part, NRS 193.165 enhances the penalty imposed on any person 'who uses a firearm or other deadly weapon'... The term 'deadly' is an adjective that describes the kind of weapon that will actuate an enhancement." Zgombic v. State, 106 Nev. 571, 580-81, 798 P.2d 548, 554 (1990) (overruled on other grounds). "The inclusion of 'any breach of a consumer contract' in NRS 482.345(5) as a basis for claiming against the bond does not decrease the scope ... The adjective 'consumer' modifies only the term 'contract' and not the other violations listed." W. Sur. Co. v. ADCO Credit, Inc., 251 P.3d 714, 717-18 (Nev. 2011). "The adjective 'municipal,' as used in section 1 of article VIII of the constitution of the State of Nevada, and elsewhere, is generally interpreted to include any agency or body which is in its nature public or governmental as distinguished from private." In re Scott, 53 Nev. 24, 31, 292 P. 291, 292 (1930). "NRS 616C.180(2) excludes from coverage stress-related injuries caused by 'any gradual mental stimulus.' The adjective 'gradual' refers to a process of 'moving, changing,

or developing by fine, slight, or often imperceptible gradations or modulations." *McGrath v. State Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 123 Nev. 120, 126, 159 P.3d 239, 243 (2007).

In the instant matter, the facts as alleged, even if true, do not constitute sexual assault because there is no evidence of sexual intent when medical devices are used as professionally intended, even when used by lay persons. Similar to the above examples of a doctor, parent, nurse or caretaker, the lack of sexual intent inherent in their conduct is what removes them from the scope of Nevada's sexual assault statutes. For an identical reason, so too in this case Respondent Solander is removed from the statute's audience. On the counts challenged in this appeal, there is simply no evidence of sexual intent.

C. THE SUBSEQUENT STATUTORY AMENDMENT SHEDS GREAT LIGHT ON THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT TO EXCLUDE MEDICAL DEVICES FROM THE SEXUAL ASSAULT STATUTE

In the instant matter, the recent amendment to NRS 200.366 makes quite clear the legislature's intent that the statute does not apply to medical devices, such as catheters. The new amendment adds the following language: "The term [sexual penetration] does not include any such conduct for medical purposes." NEVADA REVISED STATUTE 200.366.

"[S]ubsequent legislation declaring the intent of an earlier statute is entitled to great weight in statutory construction." *Red Lion Broadcasting v. FCC*, 395 U.S.

367, 380-81, 89 S. Ct. 1794, 1801 (1969). Furthermore, "[t]he persuasive force of such an interpretation is strengthened when the legislature, by its failure to amend a statute, 'silently acquiesces' in the administrative interpretation." *City of Las Vegas Downtown Redevelopment Agency v. Crockett*, 117 Nev. 816, 831, 34 P.3d 553, 563 (2001); and "where the legislature has silently acquiesced in the administrative construction by failing to amend the particular act, the executive construction is accepted generally by the courts as persuasive." *Id.* (citing *Smith v. N. P. R. Co.*, 7 Wash. 2d 652, 665, 110 P.2d 851, 856 (1941)).

Clearly, the Nevada Legislature passed the amendment and added the medical language because this is an issue of first impression in Nevada, as pointed out by Judge Adair. Perhaps a more logical alternative to Appellant's explanation is that the Legislature did not want the statute construed in any preposterously unreasonable interpretation, as occurred in the present instance.

D. APPELLANT ENTERED A PLEA OF GUILTY IN ORDER TO AVOID AN EXCESSIVE, UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRISON SENTENCE. HIS CONVICTION SHOULD BE REVERSED

Excessive sentences often force a person to strongly consider a guilty plea because they expose an individual to a harsh sentence for a particular offense.

Excessive sentences are so coercive that innocent people feel they have no option but to plead guilty. Thus, our legal system makes it a rational choice to plead guilty to something a defendant did not do.

Here, Appellant was accused of inserting catheters into minors who were under his care, and was facing a possible life sentence if he decided to go to trial.

His wife, Janet Solander, chose to go to trial instead of entering a plea of guilty, was found guilty, and was sentenced to 35 years to life in prison. Facing such a possibility, Appellant chose not to go to trial, but rather, to enter a plea of guilty to three (3) counts of child abuse, neglect and endangerment with substantial bodily harm, in order to avoid a possible life sentence.

A life sentence for inserting catheters, in a medically approved manner, is clearly excessive and violates the Eighth Amendment of the United State Constitution which prohibits the government from imposing excessive bail, excessive fines, or cruel and unusual punishments to criminal defendants who have been convicted of a crime. As a result, the government cannot impose a penalty that is grossly disproportionate to the seriousness of the offense.

The 8th Amendment states that in a criminal case:

• Excessive bail shall not be required

• Excessive fines shall not be imposed

• Cruel and unusual punishment shall not be inflicted

United States Supreme Court rulings have also held that criminal sentences that are barbarous, outrageous, inhumane, or that shock the social consciousness are unconstitutional. The constitutional limitations must be followed in every state.

The limitations on cruel and unusual punishment require that criminal sentences be in proportion to the severity of the crime committed. For example, criminal punishments that are disproportionate to the crime will likely be overturned on appeal.

For example, the courts have determined the following:

- **Death Penalty for Kidnapping or Rape**: The death penalty is prohibited for the crime of rape or kidnapping if the rape was neither intended to result in death or the victim did not actually die as a result of the rape. See, *Kennedy v. Louisiana*, 554 U.S. 407 (2008); *Coker v. Georgia*, 433 U.S. 584 (1977).
- **Insane Defendant**: The Eighth Amendment prohibits the imposition of the death penalty to defendants who are insane, even if they were sane at the time of the crime. *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002),
- **Minors**: Anyone under the age of 18 cannot be imposed the death penalty.

 **Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005).

The Eighth Amendment's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment "guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions." *Roper v. Simmons*, Ibid. That right "flows from the basic 'precept of justice that punishment for crime should be graduated and proportioned' " to both the offender and the offense. Ibid.

There is a categorical ban on sentencing practices based on mismatches between the culpability of a class of offenders and the severity of a penalty. See, e.g., *Kennedy v. Louisiana*, supra. Several cases have specially focused on juvenile offenders, because of their lesser culpability. Thus, *Roper v. Simmons.*, *supra*, held that the Eighth Amendment bars capital punishment for children, and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), concluded that the Amendment prohibits a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for a juvenile convicted of a nonhomicide offense. Graham further likened life without parole for juveniles to the death penalty, In those decisions, this Court has required sentencing authorities to consider the characteristics of a defendant and the details of his offense before sentencing him to death.

CONCLUSION

The law governing statutory interpretation is clear – the statute's "plain language" should generally be entitled to deference, but not when blind obedience to the plain words leads to patently absurd results. In the instant matter, the prosecutor's statutory interpretation would mean that doctors, nurses, parents, police officers, and other guardians would be guilty of sexual assault when using medical devices, such as catheters, on minors or people under sedation. Such a result is the very definition of absurd, and therefore the statute simply cannot be construed meaning that the insertion of catheters constitutes sexual assault, pursuant to NRS 200.366.

The Nevada legislature's preferred interpretation of the statute, which comports with Judge Adair's conclusion in the lower court, is made very clear. Inclusion of the adjective "sexual" in the statute means, by basic English grammar rules, that any penetration must be "sexual" in nature to be considered a sexual assault.

In no manner is the use of catheters or any other medical devices considered "sexual"; this is exactly why the legislature cemented its preferred interpretation when it passed the amendment excluding medical devices from the statute's scope.

Furthermore, the only reason Appellant entered a plea of guilty to three (3) counts was to avoid a sentence of life in prison, an absurd but very real possibility.

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests this Honorable Court vacate his conviction, and determine that the manufacturer's approved use of a medical device such as a catheter cannot constitute "sexual assault" within the meaning of NRS 200.366.