IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DWIGHT CONRAD SOLANDER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed May 23 2019 10:15 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 76405

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Judgement of Conviction (Guilty Plea) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

CRAIG A. MUELLER, ESQ. Mueller, Hinds & Associates, CHTD. Nevada Bar #004703 723 South 7th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 382-1200 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

The victims related further that Janet had a timer, and they were not allowed to use the bathroom until the timer went off. This caused the girls to have trouble using the bathroom and made their stomachs hurt. If the girls had bathroom accidents, they were not allowed to eat for days. Janet blended their food, and they did not know what they were eating. If the victims got in trouble, they had to sit on a bucket with a toilet seat on top for hours at a time. If they got into trouble, Janet made them take a cold shower and Janet would pour ice water on them. They were not provided a towel to dry off, but they had to stand in front of a large fan. Additionally, the girls slept on boards with no sheets or blankets. They slept in their underwear with a fan blowing on them. Victim #2 (DOB: 01-23-03) has a scar on her back from Janet pouring hot water on her. Sometimes after the victims had bathroom accidents, Janet would make them put their soiled underwear in their mouths and leave it there until their mouths would bleed. Victim #3 (DOB: 07-25-04) reported that Janet stuck a paint stick in her vagina because she could not hold her bladder. Victim #3 also has scarring on her right ear and back from Janet pouring hot water on her. The girls also reported that Janet would put a catheter in them, and if urine came out, she would hit them with a paint stick.

All three victims have scars on their arms, legs, and buttocks.

PSI at 4.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Opening Brief recycles three arguments which Appellant has previously presented to this Court. Each claim has been rejected, and this Court's ruling is now the law of the case. Moreover, even if this Court had not previously decided these issues, they would nevertheless lack merit. The State's reading of the sexual assault statute which alleged that Appellant and his co-defendant inserted a catheter into the urethra of a child to punish that child is not absurd and is encompassed by a plain reading of the relevant statute. Moreover, this Court held previously that Appellant would have been free to argue that the catheter was used for a bona fide medical purpose had this case gone to trial, and therefore his argument about the 2015 amendment is irrelevant. Finally, the only new argument on appeal is a challenge to the validity of the guilty plea, but it fails under the overwhelming weight of authority holding that guilty pleas are not invalidated by the risk of a higher penalty at trial. This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction.

ARGUMENT

In 2015, the State appealed the district court's decision to grant Appellant's pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus. AA 69. The district court had determined that "as a matter of law, … the insertion of a catheter into the urethra of a minor under the age of 14 cannot constitute sexual assault." <u>Id.</u> In Docket No. 67710,² Appellant filed an Answering Brief which made three arguments:

1. Statutes Must be Interpreted to Avoid an Absurd Result.

² A court may take judicial notice of facts that may be verified from a reliable source such that their accuracy may not be reasonably questioned. NRS 147.130(2); <u>Mack</u> <u>v. Estate of Mack</u>, 125 Nev. 80, 91, 206 P.3d 98, 106 (2006). The State respectfully requests that this Court take judicial notice of the Answering Brief Appellant filed in Docket No. 67710 on December 2, 2015 and the identical arguments he raises here.

- 2. Even Under the Plain Language of the Statute, a Sexual Intent is Required.
- 3. The Subsequent Statutory Amendment Sheds Great Light on the Legislature's Intent to Exclude Medical Devices from the Sexual Assault Statute.

Respondent's Answering Brief, Docket No. 67710 (Dec. 2, 2015) at 6-13.

This Court disagreed with Appellant, and it reversed the district court's determination that "as a matter of law, the insertion of a catheter into the urethra of a minor under the age of 14 cannot, under any circumstances, constitute sexual assault." AA 77. Instead of adopting the district court's per se rule, this Court held that while a bona fide medical purpose can be a defense to sexual assault, the question of whether a person was penetrated for an appropriate purpose was a question of fact to be determined by the jury. AA 76-77.

Appellant inappropriately takes a second bite at the apple here. The instant opening brief raises four arguments:

- 1. Statutes Must be Interpreted to Avoid an Absurd Result.
- 2. Even Under the Plain Language of the Statute, a Sexual Intent is Required.
- 3. The Subsequent Statutory Amendment Sheds Great Light on the Legislature's Intent to Exclude Medical Devices from the Sexual Assault Statute.
- 4. Appellant entered a plea of guilty in order to avoid an excessive, unconstitutional prison sentence, his conviction should be reversed.

AOB at 11-15.

A careful reader will notice that the first three headings are identical. These

are not the only similarities, however, as Appellant has also repeated the arguments

beneath them. Appellant recites—nearly verbatim—the three arguments which this Court rejected in <u>Solander v. State</u>, Docket Nos. 67710, 67711, Order of Reversal and Remand (Apr. 19, 2016). His Opening Brief makes no material changes to these three issues which have previously been litigated in this Court—instead, it removes occasional references to the State's opening brief in Docket No. 67710 to make his previously litigated issues seem novel. ³ Each is now barred by the law-of-the-case doctrine.

The only issue presented which this Court has not already adjudicated is the question of the validity of the guilty plea. It alleges that because of the potential penalties Appellant faced if he went to trial, he was coerced into his guilty plea. AOB at 16-19. For reasons below, this claim fails. The Judgment of Conviction should be affirmed.

I. THE STATE'S DECISION TO CHARGE APPELLANT WITH SEXUAL ASSAULT WAS NOT ABSURD

Appellant first complains that reading NRS 200.366(1), the sexual-assault statute, as not requiring a sexual intent would be absurd. AOB at 11.

Appellant and his co-defendant have already asked this Court to determine whether this reading "produces an absurd result." AA 73. When squarely presented with the argument, this Court rejected it:

³ Appellant's attempt to make his brief appear new was not entirely successful, as at one point he refers to himself as Respondent. AOB at 15.

The Solanders argue that a literal reading of NRS 200.364(5) and NRS 200.366 produces an absurd result, for it "criminalize(s) every doctor, nurse or parent who must, for example, insert a finger inside a child's rectum to dislodge a stoppage caused by constipation or to clean areas soiled by dirty diapers of a suppository." On this basis, the Solanders urge this court to apply the rule of lenity to NRS 200.364's definition of sexual penetration. … We decline to apply the rule of lenity because the statutory definitions of "sexual assault" and "sexual penetration" are not ambiguous.

<u>Id.</u>

That holding is now the law of the case. "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." <u>Hall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting <u>Walker v. State</u>, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." <u>Id.</u> at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) (*citing <u>McNelton v. State</u>*, 115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)).

Moreover, even if this Court were considering this issue for the first time, Appellant waived his right to raise it by entering a guilty plea. <u>Woods v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 468, 477, 958 P.2d 91, 97 (1998); <u>Reuben C. v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 845, 845-46, 673 P.2d 493, 493 (1983); <u>Powell v. Sheriff</u>, 85 Nev. 684, 687, 462 P.2d 756, 758 (1969). Further, the Amended Information, to which Appellant pleaded guilty, did not charge him with Sexual Assault, so this question is moot. <u>See Morford v. State</u>, 80 Nev. 438, 443, 395 P.2d 861, 863 (1964). Appellant will never spend a day in prison for this charge which he now claims is absurd.

Even if it this argument were not barred by the law-of-the-case doctrine, not waived by the guilty plea, and not mooted by the plea negotiations, it would nevertheless lack merit. In arguing that the State's interpretation is absurd, Appellant cites multiple examples of medical procedures that he alleges would suddenly become sexual assault if the State's interpretation were to hold. AOB at 12. He argues, for example, that a rape kit performed by a Sexual Assault nurse, a "routine gynecological medical procedure," the use of catheters on comatose patients, and invasive ultrasounds would suddenly constitute sexual assault if the person lacked "the full ability to consent." <u>Id.</u> This court has rejected this argument—in those cases, the penetration is "undertaken for a bona fide medical purpose" and "consent to the penetration is implied," there is no mens rea, and "the defense of necessity applies." AA 75.

When this question was initially before the Court, the State agreed throughout the course of this case that the mens rea could be "negated by the defense of a legitimate medical purpose." AA 75. Whether an act of penetration was committed for a legitimate medical purpose, however, was a question of law and fact which must be decided by the jury. AA 76-77. This Court, accordingly, held that it was erroneous to hold "as a matter of law, that the insertion of a catheter into the urethra of a minor under the age of 14 cannot, *under any circumstances*, constitute sexual assault." AA 77 (emphasis added).

The State's theory was that despite Appellant's claim that he and the codefendant inserted the catheters for a medical purpose, they were actually inserted to punish the sisters, not treat them. AA 76. Any of the situations enumerated by Appellant would be sexual assault if implemented to punish the person being penetrated. Context matters. Appellant ignores context in his attempt to manufacture a slippery slope, but the interpretation he is calling absurd is a straw man. This Court should affirm the Judgment of Conviction.

II. SEXUAL ASSAULT IS A GENERAL INTENT CRIME

Appellant next complains that the plain language of NRS 200.366(1) requires a sexual intent. This fails for the same reasons as Appellant's other previously litigated issues.

First, this Court has already rejected Appellant's argument, and that holding is now the law of the case. <u>Hall</u>, 91 Nev. at 315-16, 535 P.2d at 798-99. When presented with this very argument, this Court held:

Neither the definition of "sexual assault" nor the definition of "sexual penetration" includes an element of sexual motivation or gratification. <u>See</u> NRS 200.364(5); NRS 200.366. Because NRS

11

200.364(5) and 200.366 are unambiguous, the plain language of the statutes control, and we give that language its ordinary meaning.

Comparing the statutory provision making sexual seduction a crime with the sexual assault statutes confirms our reading of the latter. In contrast to sexual assault, the offense of statutory sexual seduction expressly requires sexual motivation in addition to sexual penetration. See NRS 200.364(6) (2013) ("Statutory sexual seduction' means: ... (b) Any other sexual penetration committed by a person 18 years of age or older with a person under the age of 16 years old with the intent of arousing, appealing to, or gratifying the lust or passions of sexual desires of either of the persons." (emphasis added)). Because the Legislature included an element of sexual motivation in its definition of statutory sexual seduction but did not do so in its definitions of sexual assault or sexual penetration, "it should be inferred that the omission was intentional." Ir re Christensen, 122 Nev. 1309, 1323, 149 P.3d 40, 49 (2006) ("One basic tenet of statutory construction dictates that, if the legislature includes a qualification in another similar statute, it should be inferred that the omission was intentional.").

The fact that "sexual" modifies "assault" and "penetration" in NRS 200.364(5) does not, as the Solanders suggest, impliedly require sexual motivation; the more reasonable reading, especially given the Legislature's express articulation of a sexual motivation requirement in NRS 200.364(6) for sexual seduction, is that the word "sexual" as used in NRS 200.364(5) and NRS 200.366 references the *body parts involved*, not *motivation*.

AA 71-73 (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted).

Second, this argument was waived by Appellant's decision to enter a guilty

plea. Woods, 114 Nev. at 477, 958 P.2d at 97; Reuben C., 99 Nev. at 845-46, 673

P.2d at 493; Powell, 85 Nev. at 687, 462 P.2d at 758. Furthermore, Appellant's guilty

plea and the charging document to which he ultimately pleaded guilty is void of any

reference to sexual assault, so the question of the proper interpretation of sexual

assault is moot. See Morford, 80 Nev. at 443, 395 P.2d at 863.

Third, even if this question were not already answered by this Court, the term "sexual penetration" has been defined by the Legislature, preempting what might otherwise have been the term's ordinary public meaning. NRS 200.364(9). When the Legislature defines a term, the statute's definition is conclusive and "must govern" even if the statutory definition deviates from a word's ordinary meaning. State, Dep't of Bus. & Indus. v. Check City, 130 Nev. 909, 913, 337 P.3d 755, 758 (2014).

In Nevada, "sexual penetration" is defined as follows:

"Sexual penetration" means cunnilingus, fellatio, or any intrusion, however slight, of any part of a person's body or any object manipulated or inserted by a person into the genital or anal openings of the body of another, including sexual intercourse in its ordinary meaning. The term does not include any such conduct for medical purposes.

NRS 200.364(9).

Appellant's plain language argument blatantly ignores the fact that the Legislature has given "sexual penetration," and not just "penetration," a definition. AOB at 13-15. NRS 200.364(9) does not define the adjective "sexual" and the noun "penetration" in isolation. It defines them in conjunction with one another. Appellant's failure to acknowledge the statutory definition is fatal to his plainmeaning challenge. Appellant cannot argue about the statute's plain language while simultaneously ignoring the statute's (plain) language.⁴

Fourth, this Court has previously held that sexual assault is a general intent crime. <u>Winnerford Frank H. v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 520, 525-26, 915 P.2d 291, 294 (1996); <u>Manning v. Warden</u>, 99 Nev. 82, 84, 659 P.2d 847, 848 (1983). Appellant has not asked this Court to overturn these precedents and hold—contrary to the statute's language—that sexual assault requires a specific libidinal intent. Accordingly, his argument that sexual assault requires a specific sexual intent is unavailing.

For the many reasons listed here, this Court should affirm the Judgment of Conviction.

III. THE 2015 AMENDMENT TO THE SEXUAL-PENETRATION DEFINITION DOES NOT APPLY TO CONDUCT COMMITTED BEFORE ITS ENACTMENT

Appellant next argues that the 2015 amendment to NRS 200.364 demonstrates that the Legislature did not want the sexual-penetration definition to apply to medical devices. Once more, this argument was raised by Appellant in 2015. It fails here for the same reasons as Appellant's previous arguments.

⁴ The only time Appellant cites the statutory definition of "sexual penetration" is in his Statement of the Facts. AOB at 9.

First, as this argument is merely a regurgitation of the previous argument, this Court's prior holding is the law of the case. As this Court recognized, the 2015 amendment to NRS 200.364(5) was not retroactive because by its own terms it did not "apply to an offense that is committed on or after October 1, 2015." AA 75. Despite the prospective nature of the amendment, however, the Court nevertheless held that "if the Solanders undertook the catheterization for a bona fide medical purpose, they may avoid criminal liability under NRS 200.366." AA 76.

Second, arguments on the legislature's intent were waived by Appellant's decision to enter a guilty plea. <u>Woods</u>, 114 Nev. at 477, 958 P.2d at 97; <u>Reuben C.</u>, 99 Nev. at 845-46, 673 P.2d at 493; <u>Powell</u>, 85 Nev. at 687, 462 P.2d at 758. Furthermore, Appellant's guilty plea and the charging document to which he ultimately pleaded guilty did not include an allegation related to sexual penetration, so the determination of what the Legislature did or did not intend is moot. <u>See Morford</u>, 80 Nev. at 443, 395 P.2d at 863.

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